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CRAB FISHERMEN IN SOUTH DEVON !
Melvin Firestone

This brief informal paper is an introduction to the study of crab fisher
men (“‘potters') in the arca of Start Point (n South Devon. The principie
amount of information has been gathered in the commuizity of Hallsands, hut
the study also pertains to the neighhouring communities of Beesarls and
Limnacombe, The aim is to contrast the older small open hoat fishery with
the more recently developed entemprise with its larger, further ranging boats
and their sophisticated equipment.

'The older form of crab fishing utilized sail and var until World War 1
when the open inboard motor boat was introduced. [Fishing was entirely in
waters just off shore and the fishing grounds named and located by means
of traditional offshore sightings. Cruah pots were of the ink-well type used
in Devon and Comwall, hand woven of willow by the fishermen. The pots
were hauled only during periods of slack tide (between the ebb and flood).
Buoys marking the pots would be visible ubove water only at slack tide and
subnierged responding to tidnl flow at other times. [f buoys targe enough to
be seen at all times (large coough to ride the surface despite tidal flow)
were used, the pots woutd be carried away because the weight of the few
pots on each ““string’’ was relatively light. Bait for the pots was procured
primarily by means of seine and tuck nets and longlines. Fishing for bait
was a matter of two steps: fish *‘too soft’* to be used as hait in crah pots
without disintegrating would be caught in the nets and then used to bait
longlines with which bait suitable for crab pots would be caught. Needless
to say, having to engage in three different foms of fishing in sequence made
for a very long and exacting daily schedule.

Crews were almost always of two men, the most notable exception
being a group of sisters who fished. Crew membership wus usuaily agnatic
in orientation with brothers and fathers and sons making up the greatest
proportion. Crew mates were partners with equal shares. The partner
joining without equipment would pay his share of the value of the gesr to
the other, and sometimes this amount was paid aut over time. A young man
had often to wait for an opportunity to fish with someone; openings
oceurring when someone died or “'packed it in’’ (retired or gave up). One
might then find a situation in which one brether fished with his father while
the other brother fished with his unole (his father’s brother), rather than the
brothers fishing together — a situation which might occur later when the
older men had ceased fishing. At marriage couples got their own cottages.
There was no development. of the extended or stem family; houses were
small.

After teaving school and before vhtaining a position as a crabber, a
man might work as a farm labourer, and fishemmen often worked on fams at
harvest time. Crabbers, then, tended to be acquainted with the handling of
berses, sheep, cows and planting while the famers, superior in stalgs and
addeessed as mister or master, knew little of the sea. Fishermen had sub-
sistence gardens and some earned money by catching rabbits diring the
winter,

. The crews discussed up to now may be specifically designated as

boal crews’”, Those groups which utilized o common seine and seine bont
were called “Fseine crews’. These usually consisted of four hoat crews
and had the fhllowing activities in common:

{17 Fishing for bait with a seine net. This was “shot” from the
shore nut to sea and returned surraunding a school of fish, These were
sighted by a “‘hillman™ stationed upon a nearby height who then directed
the playing out of the net by hand signals. The seine boat was rowed by
three men and a fourth **shot the net’’. Wives helped haul the seine and
received two-thirds share each. Men received one share with three shares
going to the owner of the net and hoat. Rait was shared equally between
boat crews while proceeds of fish sold were divided according to the above
share system.

(2} Maintaining a common winch for hauting boats out of the water,
mutual aid in taunching and hauling boats (others in the community would
also help) and fishing in company for safety. Longlining would be done in
concert so as to ensure that lines would not become tangled.

(3)  Bome seine crews maintained willow groves for the making of
vots.

There were in the past tuck nets which, like the seine nets, were
fished from the shore. However, these covered a wider area, were carried
by the tide for some distance while being hauled, and caught bottom fish.
Twelve men were involved in such crews, the net being owned i common,
There were also in the past farge nets for pilchard and herring in which
al fishormen in the community participated.

The seine crews and larger co-operative groups presumably made for
community integration, although there were instances of discord between
competing seine crews, Such difficulties were eliminuted, at least in
Hallsands, wwards the end of the small boat fishery when the catches of
seine were shared with all fishermen.

With World War I the decline in the smail boat fishery incrensed
drastically., The last crew coased operation in Hallsands iv 1974, when
the three brothers involved reached retirement age. The last small boat
from nearby Beesands had “‘packed it in” the year previously and theme
was no one to go out with them for purposes of safety. [t was also very
difficult for only the three men to lamch and haul in the boat in the rough
seas thut can develop off the open beach at Hallsands. Their boat was
sold to o man in Hope Cove, on the other side of the peninsula in Righury
Bay, one of the tasl potters in the srea to operate in an open boat. "The
now retired Hallsands crew still make & few crab pots which they sell to
the crabber in Hape Cove.

The fishery from targer oats is a product of the Tast decade. Morris
Browse of Paignton was the first to set on the design of the modern crab
boats through his discussions with builders over a period of time, bhut was
probably also influenced by existing French craf, These run about forty-
four feet in length and have plenty of clear deck space for the stacking of
pots. The wheel house is about two-thirds of the way back and there 1s.
some provision for the ptloting of the craft with all men outside of the pilot



house such as an additional wheel on the front of the house, forward controls
or an antomatic pilot. - This 18 to enabie them to “‘keep on the gear’” with all
hands working on deck.

The first boat in the Tullsands area was obtained nine years ago and
togday there are ten large boats owned and/or skippered by men from the
. @ea. ' These are berthed at either Dartmouth or Salcombe, as the open heaches
of Hallsands, Beesands and Lannacombe provide little shelter and no docking
facilities. In most cases the fishermen have not left their native communities
to live in the harhour towns but commute by auto. The large craft have three
or four man crews and work ““strings”’ of sixty-five pots instead of the sirings
of six fished by the small boats. The larger craft have mechanical capstans
which enables such heavy tasks 0 be undertaken and the pots used are manu-
factured commercially of metal and plastic. The later small boats had engine
driven boliards which enabled the crew to deal with a shoret string of pots, but
before this when they were hauled by hand, only one or two were fished. With
the larger boats fioats large encugh to be above water at all times of tide can
he used, as the long strings of pots are too heavy to be carried away with the
tide.

In the large boat fishery, fishing is a matter of deiving to the harbour
town, sailing to the grommds and hauling and setting pots. RBait is purchased.
Pots are found by Decea, an electronic locating device which will bring the
veasel within thirty feet. Indeed, one large boat fisherman said that the otd
fishery was more interesting. With it, activities were more varied: seining,
longiining and potling; and these had to be regul ated according to the tide,
hait requirements and the fortuitousness of the wrrival of schools of fish. It
was 880 necessary to maintain a finet sense of local tides and landmarks.
The larger vessels fish the traditional local grounds, but also may go to the
Southampton area and across the channel as far as the Channel 1sles during
the summer.

Some men in the modern fishery were neither in the old nor sons of
those in the old. Also, there is a tendency for the larger craft to be owned
by a single individual, crew member or not, rather than by equal parkners.
Government subsgidies are involved in the purchase of many of the larger
hoats hut payments due on the vessels require extensive utilization of
resources; thus the increasingly longer voyages . sometimes (o the West of
Scotland,

With the disappearance of the small boat fishery apd the moving in of
refirees, Hallsands has become essentiaily a nop-community from the point of
view of commenality of involvement or interest. The same sifuation pectains
as exists in many coastal communitics in Britain; ocutsiders have moved in
purchasiug old houses at high prices; other houses are held for high sunmer
rentala only; and the local counct! makes the butlding of new houses or the
renovationa of disused structwres difficult for local people. Fishing is no
longer a local integrating oceupation. There is a photograph in the local pub
taken in the 1920’ s showing ten fishing boats side by side on the shingle
with a group of fishermen gathered about o boat, perhaps giving advice in the
repairing of an engine. The cry of “Aye boats!”” used to bring the women of
seine crews runming out of their houses to help haul,

However, while refationships relading to crabbing within the community
have diminished, the network of relationships outside have widened such as
m the Bevon Shellfish Association and with individunls in the harbour W wns.
Prior to World War 11 the relative lack of automobiles and poor general i ang-
portation meant that the local people went little out ol their inmediate area
and the “prockles’ (tourists) had not as yet come in great droves,

To summarise: "U'he passing of the old fishery has contributed to the
weakening of social iutegration in Hadlsands, [nvolvement in the modern
fishery means working outside the community, often with ndividuals from
other commnities. In the old fishery crabbing was more an aqueons
extension of the community. The familial nature of the fishery is diminishing.
To some extent iraditional khowledge huas been reduced, but of course, modern
technical skills and knowledge, and an increased knowledge of the world has
been gained. The older articutation of community organisation with the
vicissitudes of the Immediate offshore cnvironment has been broken: daily
co-oper ation is no fonger mustered acoording to the tides, the necessity of
catehing bait and the movements of schools of fish, The fishery itself
however, has developed greatly in efficiency and production and carries with
it its own adventurousness. -

I T T

IPhe research upon which this paper is based was carried out during
197475 while on sabbatical from Arizona State University and o Visiling
Scholar at the Department of Maritime Studies of the University of Wales
Institute of Svience md Technology. 1 thank these organisations for their
support and encouragement. [ owe a deep debt of gratitude to many in South
Devon for their aid and interest;  to mention but a few: Perce, Jim and
Allen Trout of Hallsands; Noea Stone of Hallsands; Mr. and Mrs. Perce
Tolchard of Bickerton, Cyril Stone of Kellaton; Alfred Hutchings of
Beesands, My thanks go also to Robert Pim and Kay Coutin of the Depart-
ment of Extramural Studies ot the University of Exeter; 1o W.ilL Williams
of the Department of Fisheries, Plymouth; and to Sharon Ficestone of
Tempe, Arizond.

Thig paper was presented under a slightly diﬂ'crent_ti_tie to the
Sessien on Teciaological Change ad its Flffect upon Maritime Communities
at the thietv-tourth annual meeting of the Society for Applied Anthropology
in Amsterdam during March, 1975,
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DEVON PLACE NAME STUDIES
M.G. Dickinson

With the existence of two very different compilations in place name
studies — the English Place Name Society volumes published m 1939—3 and
the County Federation of Women’s [nstitutes manuscript survey of field names
made in 1968 - the Deven historian may wonder what remains to be studied.
This article is an attempt to provide proof that much work may stili be done.

[n studying the origins of place names specialised gifis in languages
and semantics are essential. Gover, Mawer and Stenton’s work The place
names of Nlevon, (Cambridge University Press 2 vols.) has held its piace as
a friumph of linguistic scholarship for over 40 years, and in spite of a
revolution in the study of local History.! Some of its compilers conclusions
as to the early Saxon history of the South West are now challenged, and
occasionally the local historian is in a position to alter or supplement the
work.

To give some examples of this, There is on Spara Bridge over the
River Teign near [ower Ashton, a defaced inscription with the date 1666(2)2
Reference to minutes of the Devon Court of Quarter Sessions shows that the
repair of the bridge was being debated in 1665, exactly one hundred years
carlier than the reference given in Devon Place Names. But no further light
is shed on the meaning or the origin of the name. Again, the three authors
state that **Teigncombe in Chagford ..... seems to be identical with the
maner known as South Teign in early records.”” The early churchwardens
accounts of Chagford3 refer repeatedly to the “‘quarters’” of the parish
Town, Meldon, South Teign and Teigncombe. [t must be that Teigncombe is
in fact the North Teign valley, as local knowledge of the area would suggest.
[de, uear Exeter, is given as “possibly a stream name’’. However, in
Domesday RBook the word is **Ida’” and the dedication of the church is to
St. 1da? In each of these three cases the tocal historian has access o
information that the Place Name Society authors did not have, working on &
wide scale chiefly from record sources available m London. [t would be
swrprising if the accumulation of records in local record offices and
specialised local geographical knowledge did not occasionally place the
local historian at an advanfage. [t would be drawing the wrong conclusion fo
assume that the local historian must always be right, though there must be
other cases where he can add to the story.

The Women’s festitute Field Name survey was a apleandid example of
team work by ordinary individuals § But the survey was taken at one point in
time, and did not provide material for a comparative study. A wide area of
study remains not in piece-meat supplements to the work already done, but in
the place name changes (or lack of them) in the last two hundred years, that
is, taking up the story where (Jover, Mawer and Stenton leave off. How far
do dialect or fraditional pronunciations survive? What is the effect of the
standardisation of spellings? What is the effect of the coming of the modern
communications systems of railway and road and of wrban growth within the
twentieth centwry? Case histories and recording on a wide scale are needed
to document the changes now taking place, and the last unself-conscious

survivals of older forms.

Special circumstances have preserved the oral forms Kirton for Crediton
and Woolsery for Woolfardisworthy, and these have almost everyday currency.
However, how far are the forms Alscott8 ‘for Alverdiscott) and Martin 7 (for
Merton) now in actual use? These spellings, obviously bascd on actual
usage, are common in documents, as is Ingerleigh (for Inwardleigh) 8. Some
native (in the sense of “'those born there’) pronunciations can be authen-
ticated over a staggering period of time. Exeter Domesday has “Holla™ (for
Hole = Holne) and *Wachetone’’ (for Wakenton = Walkhampton) %, Virtually
the same pronunciation, save for the voiceing of the final syllable, a change
common to the language as a whole, is found over a span of almost 900 yaars,

i Again turning to the Dartmoor area, strictly local place names may be
found whose very existence may be forgotten if not recorded soon, *“Will
Jool? 10 ( = Wheat Jewel) is recorded on maps, but such traditipnal forms as
“Willum Gulf’ 11 ( = Wheal Anne Gulf) survive, with the knowledge of their
whereabouts, onty in the memory of an ageing generation. A survey of
traditional names could be carried out in which such sites were recorded, with
notes on the age groups which actually used the name, those who knew of it
but did not normally use it, and any to whom it was totally strange, within a
given community.

From the transmission of names by oral tradition, we may turn to their
transmission by the written word. Leaving aside records earlier than about
1660, which present special problems, i soon becomes obvious that any
standandisation of the spelling of place names is only the product of the last
hundred or hundred and fifty years or so. - The factors leading to this include
the introduction of a uniform series of maps for the whole couniry. The
Ordnance Survey began its operations in Essex in 1805, and the Devon
sections were completed in 1809. The introduction of the penny post in
1840 and of the railway transport system (1844 onwards in Devon) as well as
the wide currency of Guide books and Directories (White’s, of 1850 for
example} furthered the trend. The introduction of compulsory elementary
education in 1870 had equally importani consequences.

Late in time, standardisation of spelling was and remains incomplete
and arbitrary. - Far from securing standardisation of pronunciation, it has
played @ very ambiguous role,

As examples of arbitrariness one may tum fo the present spelling of
the names of four South Hams villages: Bast Allington, West Alvington,
Blackawiton and Aveton Gifford. Here Allington/Alvington and Awton/Aveton
are variants of the same place name, and should logically be spelt the same
way. Similarly one may give as examples from Dartmoor, Cadover Bridge and
Rellaver Tor, Venlord Reservoir and Lengford Por. Here it should be
recalled that “*ford’* and “*aver” are variants of of the same syllable, and
that moormen did, and probably do, speak of Beliaford and Longaver Tors.

Standardi sation of spelling has failed entiroly to prevent the persis-
tance of prommeiation “doublets’?, to which Devon speech seems prone,
such as ““Bgsfud” /*‘Eggisford” or “Mort-hoe /*“Morty-hoe”. More
swprising is the appearance of “‘Exmuth™ /7 ‘Exmouth”. In such variants
as “‘Hunyton’'/“Honyton™ there is clearly an oral and a spelling pronun-
ciation side by side, as in the other cases already quoted earlior in this article,



Nor does the story end here, The history ot Eoglish place names is still
in progress, the factors leading to stability still batlance precariously with those
leading to change. Fxamination of case histories within the last century soon
move this.

The change of the name Plymouth Dock by royal proclamation to
Devonport in 1824, and the founding of Westward J1o! naned after Kingsley's
hook, by a development company about the year 1870, are well known. A less
well-known example is the disappearance of Jump, the otd name for Roborough
village, in the parish of Rickleigh, north of Plymouth, between 1830 and 1866.
The new name was presumably taken from nearby Roborough Down12, though
there may have been other factors.

Changes due to the arbitrary adoption by the ratiway company of a given
spelling have given us Paignton for Paington, and Yelverton for Blfordtown.
More complex is the case historv of a well known market town and travel
centre on the River Lemon. Tn mediaeval times the Abbot of Tor and the
Bushell family established rival market centres, Newton Abbot in the parish of
Wolborough end Newton Bushell in the parish of Highweek. In the carly years
of the nineteenth century, the much used coach route passing through the
northern section of the town spread the use of the suffix Busheil for the town
of Newton. After the arrival of the eailway, with the station at Newton Abbot,
in 1846, the use of that name gradually became general, and is now used to
refer to the whole town., This is ap object Iesson in the importance of the
placing of a signboard13 .,

Road signs continue this process, On the A30, some six miles from
Exeter, signs are placed at the entry o a roadside village, which read
“Toedburn St Mary®’. True, the village 1s within the parish of Tedburn St. Mary,
but so recently as the {888 six inch Ordnance Survey, it was recorded as
Taphouse. Probably over a somewhat longer period of time “‘Longdown’’ on
the B3212 has replaced “Longdown End’”, and *“Mary Tavy” on the A3
north of Tavistock “‘Lane End’’.

“Woolsery” in North Devon, off the 439, already alluded to, is a
special case. Considerations of space have led to the use of thig form on
County Council finger posts. Curent editions of the Ordnance Sarvey give,
uncompromisingly, “Woolfardisworthy™ both for this place and for that viltage
of the same nwame, north of Crediton14 .

In a rather different context comes the growth of fams and villages with
wrban development: such are Sparkwell and Chaddlewood uear Plympton or
Rrixington negr Fxmouth. Growth of housing where none sfood hefore happened
frequently in nineteenth centiry England, occasionally even in Devon, ag
Wheat Maria Cottages, Clearbrook and Lec Moor {all in West Devon) testify.,

It is hoped that this article, briel, diffuse and supecficial though it is,
may encourage any local higtorians working in this field and identify possible
lines of attack tor future writces,

FOOTNOTES
1 The article on the “[Place Names of Dovon™ by Kathleen M. Dextor,
B.A., in “Exelor and its Region® edited by Frank Barlow, Fxeter 1989,
states “Much ol this chapter follows cloely - volume IX of the
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1
12
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14

English Place Name Society publications.’!

The author visited this site in the summer of 1969 at which time the
tast figure of the date was defective, but could only have been 0 or 6.
The Quartor Sessions Order Rook for 16611670, (ref. QS/ORID) is
housed tike all other documentary sources here quoted at the Devon
Record Offices Headguarters Section al Concord House, Fxeter.

Devon Record Office, ref. 1420A /PW1 carliest date 1480,

Exeter Diocesan Directory for 1975, p.92. [ am indebted to Miss M.E.
Cash for this reference.

Devon Record Office, ref. DIBRG.

White's Directory, 1850, gives this as the alternative form.

Devon Record Office, ref. Chanter 230, a Visitation Call Book of 1771
gives Marten,

Devon Record Office, ref. 98M/Box26/8A, an agreement dated 1561,

Victoria County History: Devon: Introductory Volume, see p.490Q,
for Holzie and pp.406 and 547 for Watkhampton.

Heard from an inhabitant of Mary Tavy,
Information from T.AP. Greeves.

““Jump” is shown on Donn’s 1765 map. The change to Roborough
oceurs between White’s 1850 directory and Kelly’s 1866 one.

White, 1850 properly gives full details about Newton.

Information as to the form used on signs near Woolfordisworthy East
would be of interest.



WILLIAM BOYCOT, CARTOGRAPHER, IN DEVON

Dorothy Wright (Mrs, C.B. Dix)

My husband and { have come to amateur histerical research late in 1ife
but the following *siory’ mav encourage others to use their retirement to do
interesting work of some, if timited, value requiring average intelligence and
time.,

We were lucky in three things: firstly a course of lectures on Making
the ilistory of & Parish, secondly, that our town, Bovaey Tracey, hus un
exceptional collection of Parish Records, some dating from 153%; and
thirdly, a map, almost unknown, in very good condition, wrapped in an old
speing-hlind and two shirt tails, was on top of a cuphoard in the primary
school.

[t meusures roughly four feet square and the scale is twelve inches to
the mile. [t is hand drawn on parchment in colour, much wrinkled and dirly
but with a lot of life still left in the parchment. At the fop lefthand comer
s u starcompass with a smatl daisy in the centre; bottom left is a reference
table of holdera of the lands of the manor of Bovey Tracey with acreages,
setin a fretwork cartouche. At the bottom righthand is the scale summounted
hy dividers and a scrolt with only the christian name Guliemus still legible.
This is in red, yetlow and blue. Adjacent owners and occupicrs are also
shown on the map where the field boundaries are yellow and blue, with
names, acreages and bnildings inred. The writing and figures are clear Lo
read, Nothing was known about how it came to be in the keeping of the
schonl or for whom and by whom it was made.

Our first interest was to compare it with Domesday and the Ordnance
Survey but this was set aside for the time being. ‘he Devon Recard Office
had Torr's pamphlet on Bovey Tracey Church Rates and Poor Rates, [O28*
and it was obvions that he had never seen the map or known of its
existence. Nor had Canon Hyde winse researches into Hovey history are
in the Devoushire Association library. On the othoer hand it was not unknown
to the DRO where 1t is listed ¢.1670 on the advice of Hugh Peskett who had
gseen it. By kind permission of Mr. Vinnicombe, the schoolinaster, we were
able to study the map, particularly the names on it

Hovey Tracey is a large and scattered mannr and was o possegsion
of the Crown until Charles [ sold it in 1833, The man holding the most Lad
not in but round about the manor was Sir Popham Sontheott.  Our first clue
was the entry in the Parish Records of his burial on Hrd November 1543,
This gave us an outside date. We then Tound that the Widow Pinseunt,
shown holding the farm of Hatherlev, had lost her husband on 25th July 1441,
The last clue was the buriai of Thomas Wills, holder of Wolleigh, on i1th
November 1641, s0 the reference table must have been written between 25th
July and 11th November of that year,

The search for the maker of the map and the man for whom it was made
was longer and we needed hetp. [ was reading more widely, trying to make
a picture of the life of the time. [t was in this reading that by chance [ got
our first clue: a note at the bottom of page 85 in Oliver’s Ecclesiastical
Antiquities of 1810, ‘[ have seen a map in the possession of Joseph Steer
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of [ndio, Esquire, of the Manor of Bovey Tracey, by William Boyeot, and
peobably made in the reign of James L 1L contains 2679 acres, 1 vood, 2
perches.” (The acreage is the same.)

No one could ell us anything of Witliam Boycot. Guliemus was clear
enough but even an ultra-violet lamp could not give us Boyeot. Mr, Paley,
in the City Library at Excter showed me an article by Professor William
Ravenhiil in the Geographical Magazine for February 1972, ‘Joel Gascoigne
Cartographer’, from which § leamt about cartouches and was able to compare
my own coloured photographs of the map. Later Dr. Ravenhill came to see
the map and delighted us with his interest and enthusiasm. Through him we
Later tearnt that Boyeot was a well-known surveyor from 1617 to 1640 and
surveyed and mapped estates in Denbighshire, IFlint, Surrey, Kent and
Sussex, most of his work being dene in the fast two counlies. 1o was not
known to have been connected with Devon. Dr. Ravenhill sugge sted that we
try to find some possible comection betweon the mian for whom the map
might have been made and one of these counties. it somnded & long shot but
the answer came in one day’s work.

The manor’s history was by now known to us in outline: it had heen
in royal hands for most of its existence, though granted here and there to
various tenants. In 1628 the freehold ol the manor of Boviy Teacey ogether
with the manors of Ashburton, Buckfasticigh, Heathfiell and Pilton were
given to the corporation of the City of Loundon to repay louns previously made
tn the Crown. After complicated negofiations the group of manors was sold
to a syndicate consisting of Alderman Ralph Freeman, Alderman Robert
Parkhurst and their heirs Sir George Sondes, Freeman's son-in-law, and
Parkhurst’s son Robert. Freeman became Lord Mayoer of London in L83 and
died within the yvear. His estates went into Chancery for more than 20)
years, & period which covers the Civil War. T'his meant that Sondes and
Robert Parkhurst — the thivd of the name, were unable to sell these properties
until after the Restoration. Bovey manor was then bought by a Devon man,
John Stawell, a successful lawyer and member of & yeoman family of
Herebeare, in Bickington parish, who also bought successively the two hig
houses in Bovey parish, [ndio and Parke.

As it happened, for reasons guite other than his ownership of Bovey
Tracey manor, Sir George Sondes takes up a considerable amount of space
in the Dictionary of National Biography. He was an ardent Royalist,
imprisoned by Cromwell between 1645 and 1850, and released after com-
pounding for his estate for £3,350 (Calendar of Proceedings p.867). His
fomily life was tragic. tle had three wives; the younger of his two surviving
sons murdered the elder in 1665 and was hanged for it. The trial gave great
scope to "Ministers and godly men’ of the vicinity to preach and wrte aboul
the royalist Sondes and the upbringing of his chitdren,

But to us he was a godsend. Charles I made him EBarl of Feversham
(Iravershiam), Bamn ol Throwley and Viscount Sondes of Lees Court. All
these places are of course in the County of Kent. Before we left Fxcter
that evening in the Devoushire fustitution my husband was looking through
Catalogue of Maps and Plans in the Public Record Office, (1. British isles
L4 10—1860.) On page 179 1s ¢ map of the Manor of Sturry made by Boyeot
in 1644, Sumy is six miles from Faversham. Three months later a photo-
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graph of the cartouche of this Sturry map was on our breakfast table, The
cartemches are identical except that the Povey oue has one small embellish-
ment..

Dr. FPelix Hutl, County Archivist for Kent told ¢s more aboul Royeot,
There were two men of that name, probably father and son. They lived in
Pordwich, then a small horough cast of Canterbury, about 1¢ miles from
[Faversham. [Fach man acted as depudy tor his town at the Cingue port
assemblies. Their office may have been in Canterbury.

Plate |. in Kentish Maps and Map-makers by Dr. Hull, Kent County
Clouncil 1973, is a coloured reproduction of William Boycot’s map of
Hoddiford Manor in Sellindge, dated 1626. The cartouches are rather more
etaborate but the same and there is a coat-of-amms. The Bovey map does not
have one, a probable reason might be that the manor was in Chancery at the
time.

So far our researches have not led us to any more evidence of William
Boycot’s excursion to Devon, though it is possible that he surveved other
manors in the Freeman estate at Sondes’ request. But maps of such an early
date do not often swrvive and Bovey has been lucky.

Qur interest in the map did not end 'there. We were leaming all the
time and could see how many other interesting mysferies could be unravelled
by using the map with the Parish Records. My husband has alife-long love
of maps and he has copied the field boundaries and tracks on tn the present
six-inch Ordnance Survey in coloured inks and was delighted to find how
accurate they were. Houses and farms are so stylised that one can tell
littie more than that practically all the farms of today were in existence in
1641. [t seems unlikely that the houses in the two muin streets of Bovey
Tracey were drawn with any accuracy of numbers though those round the
church fare better. The old main road to Exeter was then up Traw Lane by
the church to Five Lanes and down to Trushom where if cossed the Teigu,
all in nawrow {anes today. The Church Rates and Poor Rates of Bovey
Tracey are in the City Library of Exeter in manuscript and we are beginning
to draw inferences ahout who lived where between 1596 and LGS because
the scribes have rarely written down more than a street name and aceasion-
ally a farm. We hope to be able to make some coherent picture and leam
more of the peeple listed on the map.
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ILFRACOMBE MUSEUM
Jahn Longhurst, Hon. Curator

[n the nineteen-twenties the idea of establishing a Museum in
Hfracombe was gaining support. Mr. Copp had opened to the pablic what was
described ns o ‘repository of curiosities® in Northlield Road, but this had
ceased to function by 1931. A meefing to stimulate interest in the proposed
Museum was held on Monday, 2nd February 1631 in the Town #all and sub-
sequently a working committee was formed to get the project going. 1t must
be remembered that in 1931 there was not even a public library in fliracombe
and people had expressed surprise that the Town Council had not adopted
the Museum and Free Libraries Act and obtained financial help from the
Board of Eduecation and the Carnegie Trust. On 26th June, 1931 the Town
Council set apart a room in the Council Offices for the reception of exhibits
and tater the Museum Committer, in a letter published in the IMracombe
Chronicle, said it would be gratelul lor the loan or gift of tables on which to
display the exhibits, chiefly Natwral History, which so far had been received.

Various sites for the Museum were considered — the then derelict
St. Nicholas Chapel on Lantern Hill by the harbour and the east wing ot the
old ‘cucumber frame’ pavilion and pact of the disused laundry building
attached to the [fracombe tlotel. [n May 1932 the Council finally agreed to
let the Museum Commitiee use part of the old laundey duilding. Council work-
men started the conversion in May 1932: work was completed in July and
Mr. Palmer, who by this time had been appointed Hon, Curator, commenced o
arrange the exhibits ready for an experimental opening on 1st August in a
smatl part of the laundry building. The only enfrance to the Museum was the
gmall door near to the entrance to the ‘tmnel’, The petrol pumps were still
in position and the garages to the west of the building were still in existence.
Such was the interest that 1,231 people visited the Museum on that day,
admission was free: a daily figure that was not exceeded until [3th August
1974 when 1,328 visitors paid for admission: the figure for 19th August 1975
was 1,397. The official opening of the Museun did not take place unti!
Wednesday, 19th Apeil, 1933 when Sir Basil Peto Bart, M., performed the
ceremony in the Rest Roon of the fifracombe Hotel. The Muscum floor area
at that time was only about 900 sq. foet. The fine weather diring 1933 had
the natural effect of reducing the number of visitors: a total of 28305 for the
yvear: admission was still free, and the displays were still more or less
limited to Natural History.

By 1935 the Committee were complaining that the Museum, ail {,500
5. [t of it, was already overcrowded with exhibits which lost a certain
amount of their importance through this lack of exhibition space. A collection
of flints, fossits and geological specimens had been added to the Natural
History collection: also some 250 prinis and photographs had been collected
hut there was nowhere (as now) to exhibit them all at one time. There was
still no charge for admission to the Museum: the Council still contributed
the building free of charge and paid for heat, rates and maintenance.

Following the outbreak of war in 1939 the number of visitors decreased
in spite of the influx of evacuecs and it was decided that fiom Jasuary 1941 a
charge of 2d. would be made tor adults: children half price. After 1945 great
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difficullies were experienced in keeping the building watertight: the Council
seemed reluctant to spend money on the building and the Trustees of the
Museum had no money to fhuance the work themselves. Ry 1958 however 4
further part of the oid tamdry had been brought into use and the wof put in a
more watertight condition by the Council, but it was reported that then, as
now, the exhibits were being spoilt by the danp walls. The charge for admis-
sion had been by this time increased to 6d. for adults. This is sow 5p.

Towards the end of 1871 plans were put forward to build an extension
onte the west end of the Museum, the cost of which was to be borne by the
Trustees: the building was subsequently to be handed over to the flfracombe
Council in exchange for a fifty year lease at a nominal ground rent. At the
same time considerable work wag necessary on the floor of the main hall and
a very welcome donation from the English Towrist Board helped to pay for
this. In 1974 the heating was disconnected when the North Devon District
Council ciosed the ofd council offices, which were situated in the former
[Hracombe Hotel, and the Trustees must now raise £1,500 to provide some
adeguate heating to preserve the extibits.

In June 1975 the Museum was registered as a Charity, particular
emphasis being placed on the educational side of its activities, [t is hoped
that during the coming year many more ovganised parties from local schools
will visit the Museum; many school parties from other parts of the country
have regularly visited the Museum in past years. Due to the everrising
cost of runiing the Museum the Trustees have decided that the price of
admission must now be raised to 10p for adults; 5p for children: organised
school partics continue to be free of charge. [n Qetober 1974 the [Lfracombe
{ocal history group commenced its weekly evening meetings at the Museum.

In addition t¢ fhe many varied objects which we arc unable to have on
view, due to lack of exhibition room, there are some 500 books of reference
on all subjects, incliding n complete set of the Transactions of the Devon-
shire Association from [852, in addition to the bound copies of the
Mftacombe Chrenicle from (880 to 1953. Of the 3,000 photos and prints of
various views, buildings and events in {Uracombe and district, only atout
100 are on view in addition to the modern photographs of all the locul
buildings listed as being of architectural interest; the remainder are con-
stantly being referred to by people doing research into various aspects of the
history of Ifracombe, as are the many old magic lantern slides and
negabi vis,

The Natural History cotlection which contains sver 200 specimens of
wild birds, is the finest collection of North Devon birds in the country.
Among the rare species to be seen in the gallery are Rough Legged Buzzards,
Peregrine fralcon, White Tailed Rogle and Qsprey, The few birds eggs are
alas, becoming rather faded. A wild flower table showing wild plants in
flower is maintained and assistance W identifying different species is
willingly given. There are some 1,000 butterflies, both British and forcigm
and sea shore ittems, in various cases, together with a variety of local tossils.

In addition to the romaing of the red petticoat worn by Granny Scotl in
L797 and the drum used by Betsy Gammon when the French threatened the
town, onie of the lew turtet clocks still in working order, and some thirty oil
and water colour paistings, by various artists, depicting Hilracombe end
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district from 1796 onwirds are on view. A small map seclion includes a John
Speed (1611) map of Devon, an 1809 Qrdnance Survey and various other 19th
century maps of [Lracombe and districl - all originals — together with the
Omiby 1675 and the Donn 1765 reprints. The 1840 Tithe Map of racombe
can be seen on request. There is a smatt but good collection of powter,
(some 40 preces) china and pottery {including South Awerican). There are
flints, amrowheads, blades and scrapers found at Warkiciph, also flints

bund at Westward Tio!, Baggy Point, Hillsborough and other nearhy places
#tl mentioned in Grinsell’s Archacology of Exmoor. On show is a brooch
made from silver mined at Combe Martin — also & map showing all the mines
that existed near [fracombe in former times. TPhere we of course many other
items from all over the world too numerous to mention.

Visitors seen to appreciate the intimate nature of the Musewn and
generally are of the opinion that our cotlection 18 worthy of a better liome.
While additions of small-sized objects and documents aro vory welcome
regretfully nothing large can now be accepted. Much larger and better
equipped premises are now required if the very considecable number of
exhibits are to be displayed in an intelligent manner and those not on show
stored under reasonable conditions.

CONFERENCES

The Autumn Conference of the SCDH was held at lfracombe on Sth November,
1975. Alout fifty members attended, a number coming hy coach from ‘Torbay
and Exeter. Mr. S Hiscox gave a most interesting illustrated talk on
“Victorian and Edwardian Holidavs in [lfreacombe’ in the morming. Visits were
made to the [fracombe Museun and o a restored waler mill at Bicelescombe.
In the aftemoon Keith Gardiner spoke about the archacology and history of
fundy with many slides.

‘Phe Spring Conference ook ptace at Ashburton st the Golden Lion Hotel on
a8th February, about 70 people attended. Stephen Treseder spoke about t}m
mines of Ashburton in the woring and in the afternoon Owen Baker explained
the new arrangements of the Devon Library services and how this might hetp
the local historian. Visits were made to the Ashburton Muscum and to
Ashhurton Great Meoting, one of the earliest Non-Conformist Meeting flouses
in Devon. Visitors llowed the new “Fown Trail’,

The AGM of the SCDH will take place on 8th May at the Lecture Room in the
Central Library, Fxeter. ‘The speaker will e Professor Harry Perkin of
Laneaster University who will talk about ‘Holiday Towns’.

The Autumn Conference fur 1976 will take place at South Molton on 6th
November. The speakers will be Jeffrey Porter on “The 1926 (eneral Strike’,
the 50th anniversary of which falls this year, and Robert Sherlock of the
Planning Department at Bamstaple, author of a recent book on the industrial
archaeology of Barnstapie, on ‘Historical Preservation and the Planmer’,

The Spring meeting for 1977 will take place at Kingsbridge.
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A PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATION INTO THE
REGISTER TIVERTON PARISH

Mahood Society, Blundell’s School

THE PARISH REGISTERS

The Tiverton Parish Registers date from the year 1559 and contain a
repoyd of the _lnrths. marrisges and deaths that have occurred within the parish
of Tiverton since then, They are an invatuable source of historieal infor-
mation to those who wish to gain a greater understanding and insight into the
conditiors that prevailed in Tiverton during the period under record, They
are also of special interest to those who wish to trace family trees. The
entries are hand written (on parchment in the eurly years) and one of the
problems to be faced in the study is the usual one of interpreting 16th century
handwriting,

The Aim of the Investigation

. A major aim of the study has been to f-'amiliarise boys in the Society
with the character and problems of interpreting a parish register and to begin
an anal ysis of the contents.

The study was divided inéo three parts and was Himited to the years
1559-1616 i.e. those of the First and Second Registers.

{1)  Birth rate and death rate
(i1} Length of life
(iii) Population mobility

L Birth Rate and Death Rate

Figure 1 shows the patter of fluctuation of the hirth and death mte,
The actual number of births and deaths are recorded for each year, not as a
per thousand figure which would be normat for a national survey.

We see from this figure that the birth rate is higher over the periad than
the death rate. As expected, Tiverton was growing. But there are two major
and three minor reversals. The first significant one occurred in the Plague
of 1591 when the number of deaths reached 576, a fivefold, or in modern
jargon a 500 per ceni, increase in mortality compared with the preceding and
following years. In 1590, 119 deaths are recorded and §592, 104 deaths,
Tiverton was certainty a dangerous place to be in (591, Perhaps more than
a tenth of the town died in that year alone. Such was the severity with
whivh contagious disease could hit a community.

The death rate was sharply raised for a second time in the same
notorious decade when in the famine year 1597, 288 deaths were recorded.
These two short but dramatic increases were enough to stabilise the pepu-
lation during the period 155931616, The birth rate fluctnated gently
hetween 47 in 1560 and 190 in 1618 showing a slow but discernibie upwerd
trend. The death rate was too erratic to pemit any pattem to he idenfified.

L Length of Life
To provide a completely accurate report on this is beyond the scope of

this study but it was boped to gain a useful indication by taking a limited
sample of the entries. It was not possible to pick a purely random sample of
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known size, say five or ten per cent, hecause of the difficulty encountered in
the identification and recognition of the names.

In order to obtain the statistics necessary for detemining a porson’s
age af death one must first record the subject’s name and date of hirth and
then diligently search through the record of deaths until that name appears.
This may possibly be in the next book of the register or not at all — sec
section TII on population mobility. Only when the entry of death has been
found can the arithmetic be compieted.

Because of the time limit the samplc was limited to one hundred
subjects. It was further restricted in that each subject should be male. Most
females would marry and their death entries be recorded under their married
aame. Some would move to live outside the parish on macriage and their
deaths be recorded el sewhere. This would have complicated the checking
operation further. The significance of choosintg males was noted in deter-
mining life expectancy. Females today hawe a three-four year advanlage over
males at birth, it is likely though to have been less in the sixtecnth century.

I.egibility was again an important factor in determining which 100 birth
entries were chosen. fhe Christian name John was easily recognisable so
100 “Johns’ bom between 1559 and 1609 were chosen, two from each year,
This ensured that the whole of a fifty year period was covered. [t had already
been noted fwm the birth and death rate duta (Figure 1) that there was no
radical increase or decrease in birth or death rate tends and thus over this
period studied the average tife expectancy was unlikely to have varied greatly
and so further curtaited the value of this exercise. An advantage of selecting
the names over this wide period, though, is that treak years such as 1591 are
less likely to distort the results of Lhe smatl sample than might be the case it
just one vear’s entries were chosen,

Of the 100 birth entries studied, almost two-thirds (64) were known to
have died in Tiverton, the parish of their birth. The survey showed that
average life expectancy of those males was 19 years 3 months and once infant
mortality had heen exchuded from the calculations the figure rose to 25 years
exactly. The national average life expectancy according to estimates made
by Cregory King and Tdmund alley in the 1690°s (nearly a century later) was
27 years ab birth or 32 vears once infant mortality was eliminated,

The life expectancy for children born in {974 is almost certain to
exceed seventy yesrs.

The figure of twenty-five years, after excluding child deaths, is almost
cortainly an under-vstimate, since one-third of the 100 birth enfries wore not
recorded in the register of deaths. [t would seem likely that this one-third
would move from Tiverton to a neighbouring prish or further afield when they
were adults or at lenst beyond the age for infant mortality.

This peints to an estimated average lile expectancy atb birth more in
line with the national figure.

Figure 2 shows that one’s chances of dying young were considerable
even assuming the missing third were all alive, which is unlikely, [xactly
fiftv of the 100 subjects were recorded dead before the age of thirty, thirty-
six before twenty, twenty-two before ten and sixteen before the age of five
years, Life was for most short if not nasty and brutish as well.
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Thirty-six of the 100 subjects recorded as bom in the parish register
were wt recorded in the register of deaths and must be presumed to have died
in another parish. Thus two out of every three residents of Tiverton died in
the parish of their birth. When one considers that one-sixth of the sampie died
before the age of five this does not seem a remarkably high proportion but by
twentieth century standards it is an impressive figure. [f females were readily
traceahle the relevant data would provide an interesting comparison.  Further-
more, a study of the adj acent pari sh registers for the period might provide an
indication of how few peopie had moved away from Tiverton.

The most that can be recad into section 1§ or UL is a rough indication of
the length of life and the extent of movement away from the town because of
the small sample chosen. Given further study the accuracy of this initial
survey could and should be detemined.

Conclusions

[t was stated in the title that this work was a preliminary investigation
into the Tiverton Parish Regislers by the Mahood Society of Blundeil’s
Scheol. §# is appropriate to stress this fact here. A number of guestions were
raised ahout the births, deaths, 1ife expectancy, infant mortality and popu-
lation movements in sixteenth century Tiverton. The paper offers fow conercte
conclusions except on the subject of birth and death rates and infant mortal ity.
[nstead it points to the need for more study if rends are to be determined aned
comparisons made,

Dees the population of Tiverton remain stoady in the sevenicenth
century? Do the NTgures confirm Dunsford’s generad pichure of sixtcenth
centiry rise and decline in the mid-eighteenth cenlury? Is there a tendency
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for peopie to leave Tiverton to work elsewhere in the seventeenth to nineteenth
centuries? Was e expectancy much greater in the Factory Years of Heotheoat
than it was in the days of Quecn Flizabeth 1?7 How does the level of infant
mortality in the seventeenth century compare with that in the nineteenth? All
these are questions that should be raised and answers can be provided from
the Tiverion Parish Registers. The frequency and severity of sudden
calamities such as that witnessed in the year 1591 by the ahnormally high
death rate can be examined and explanations sought. Plague and pestilence
ware commonpiace and carried off far more than the dramatic Great FPires.

The task has been started but much remains to be done. it would not
be fitting to finish this report without acknowledging our sincere thanks to the
Rev. .S Nye for his encouragement in providing the society with a task which
wag as interesting in outcome as painstaking in execution. As far as we know
it is the first study of its type to be made at Tiverton, aibeit common enough
elsewhere.

NOTES

Holsworthy Local [tistory Seciety is planning the publication of a collection
of photographs relating to the History of Holsworthy, ' In conjunction with the
Court Leet and the Town Council they are attempting to arrange proper
classification and supervision of the Holsworthy Museum. New Secretary
Jean Sinclair, Town Library, Holsworthy.

{lomyock Local History Group is hoping te publish a booklet relating to the
history of Hemyock next year, including sections on Hemyock Milk Factory
recenty closed which began in 1880 as an ewrly co-operative after the building
of the Culm Valley Railway, also just closed. Further sections on Hemyock
Castle and on the plans made to ovacuate Hemyoek during the Napoleonic wars,
of which many details survive, and on what may be an hitherto unknown open
cast iron smelting wndustry in the arca we also planned.

NOTES ON NEW CONTRIBUTORS

Melvin Firestone is a member of the Bepartment of Anthropology, University
of Arizoné.

Henry Morgan is the Chairman of Dawlish Museum Society and 1s engaged on
writing the history of that town.

Darothy Wright taught for the Greater Tondon Council and i¢ the authorof a
number of books including ‘Baskeis and Baskelmaking’ (Divid & Charles).
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WHAT'S IN A NAME?
SOME GENEALOGICAL RAMBLINGS
H.G. Morgan

The man with the grasshopper mnd, if he can resist the stern
temptation to keep to the matter in hand, may find that the answer to one
simple question can lead to unexpected answoers fo others. This is the in-
complete record of such an excursion. [t is not, except incidentally, con-
cerned with genealogy, and it 18 not conducted with the expertise of a
geneatogist. As the title implies, it is concerned with names.

In 1819, the fandlord of the Lobster nn at Holecombe, near Dawlish,
was Oliver Manwaring Mathews. In 1724, Oliver Manwaring was a chureh-
warden in Dawlish. The question which sterted this enguiry was ‘were they
related?’ For the bencfit of those who turn to the end to see how the story
ended, the answer was ‘Yes”; it was casily found at an carly stage of the
investigation, but not so early as to prevent the gragshopper mind from
grasping other aspects of the family story.

The family name is peculiarly well ndapted to this sort of casual
investigation. Firtly, the name itself is relatively uncommon, especially in
the South-west (though there are still Mainwarings listed in Lhe local tele-
phone directory}. Secondly, it is sufficiently distinctive o be tdentifiable
through the various disguises forced upon it by the phonetic renderings hy
generations of clerks and officials: 2% centurics of parish registers supply
the following versions — Mamering, Meanwaringe, Manouring, Manaing,
Manering, Mawearinge, Maniring, Mainering, Maurenwaring, Mannaring, as
well as the accepted Mainwaring and Manwaring. Thirdly, as a family, they
were remarkably Taithful to particular Christisn names, as well as to matemal
surnames used as Cheistian pames (in this, of course, they were by no means
migue, but some of the names were unusual).

Once the interest was aroused, the nawe, aud related names, cropped
up reasonably frequently in lists and indices, and could be followed up in
odd moments in the course of the more legitimate pursait of the history of
Dawlish. Apart from parish registers, the trait has led to Rurke’s ‘Peerage’
angl Prince’s ‘Worthies’. A branch leading to Wamington-on-Sea has not
been followed. A selection of the results follows, each section looscly tied
to a particular family name.

THE FIRST MANWARING:  In eleventh-centwry France, a certain Ranulphus
was living in the village of Mesnii-Guamier, near Avranches in Normandy
{doubtless he had a different name in the Norman dialect, but we hear of him
first in his Latinised go-to-meeting vame). When the Duke of Normandy
assembied his invaders in 1068, Ranulphus was one of them. After the con-
quest, he was rewarded for his part by the lordship of several manors in
Cheshire. Inone of these, Peure (now known as Qver Peover), was estab-
lished the original family seat; in referonce to his place of origin, the family
took the name of Mesnilwaren.

RANDLE MANWARING: The name of Ranulphus has persisted as a
Christian name in the family over the years, 1is great-great-grandson was

Sir Raufe Manwaringe, justice of Chester in Richard I's time. Pen generations
later, there was still a Randle Manwaringe at Qver Peover, whose third son,
also Randle, was the direct ancestor of the Devon branch of the family. The
name does not appear among the Pawlish and Teignmouth families, but the
vicar of Stdmouth (a living which a century tater was in the gift of Oliver
Mainwaring of Dawlish) in 1635 signed his will as ‘I, Randulph Mainwaring,
clerk’ though reforred to by his nephew as ‘my uncle Randall Maynwaring'.
The name is probably still extant; a Randle Mainwaring was horn in the
Shropshire branch of the family as late as 1905,

OLIVER MANWARING: The name Oliver may have come into the family
relatively late, but the first amrivals in Devon, two grandsons of Randle of
{Over Peover {and hence the seventeenth generation from Ronnlphus) were
Oliver and his brother George. They were citizens of note in Exeter: among
other things, they were the joint founders of St. Anne's Hospital. Oliver
himself died without issue, buf his brother marwied Juliana Spurway, whose
father was mayor of Exeter in 1540, and one of their sons caried on his
uncle’s name. His son, Oliver again, was the founder of the Dawlish branch
ot the family. One of his sons was also Oliver, but it was his eldest
surviving son, Esse, who ensured the continuity of the name Oliver. Esse’s
son Oliver himself had a son Qliver, whose second daughter Jane married
John Matthews; their son was the Qliver Manwaring Matthews with which
the investigation started,
A CENEALOGICAL DICRESSION: At this stage, the faithfulness fo
Christian names leads o a situation where mere mspection of the parish
registers is incapable of providing the correct answer. With fathers ind sons,
unctes and cousing, sharing a small numbor of Christian names, the possible
permutations are legion, and we need evidence from other sources before it
& safe to draw any conclusions with confidence. In our particular case,
there is an added complication in the arrival on the scene of the common
Christian name of Jane, which seems to have entered the family twice and
probably three times by various mamiages o christenings. The previous
paragraph referred to Oliver’s ‘second daughter Jane’; this is literally true,
Jane, daughter of Oliver and Flizabeth Manwaring, was baptised at Dawlish
on 3rd March, 1733/4. An ideniical entry appears on [{th May, 1737
Fortanately, the explanation is simple in this case, for we find the burial of
Jane, daughter of Oliver Manwaring, recorded, also at Dawlish, on 30th April
£735, The first Jane, nemed after her grandmother, died in infancy, but the
second lived to the age of 83 she had a daughter Jane Mainwaring Matthews,
and a daughter-in-t aw (probably néé [lickman), who gave her a grand-daughter
Jane Matthews. The Oliver Manwarings also give trounle; one is recorded as
having been huried on 24th December, 1739, and one on ldth February, 1740/1.
Fortunately, a copy of the will of Oliver (b, 1863) swvives, and refers to ‘my
erand-lavghter Jane Manwaring dacghter of my son Oliver Wanwaring decd.’
{the will being dated 8th February, 1740).
OLIVER MANWARING'S DESCENDANTS:  We have already seen that Janc
Matthews gave both her father's names to her son. Another Jane married Jacoh
otham in 1727, and their son Oliver Manwaring Gotham was huried at
Dawlish on 22nd February, 173071, Oliver's will shows that his daughters
also perpetuated his name. [lis daughter Mary maried one of the otd Dawlish
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family of the Tripes and, though the eldest son took the raditional Pripe name
of Gawin, one of the younger sons was Oliver. Another daughter, Loveday
Curtis, had eight children, and six of them bore names that ran in the Manwaring
family: Manwaring, Oliver, William, Loveday, Jane and Esse. However,
coincidence enters here, or may do so, since the father of the family was
named Oliver Curtis. But it may not after all be eoincidence, for his father
was mentioned in Oliver Manwaring’s will as ‘my good friend ... John Courtice
of Sidmouth, clerk’. Now a parson in Sidmouth may have owed his position to
Oliver, and may well have named his son for his henefactor. A final addition
to the ranks of the Olivers comes with another of his daughters, Anay Clapp,
who gave him yet another grandson Oliver.

PRUDENCE MANWARING: Prudence was 2 name that ran in the Manwarning
family during the 17th century, and we can date its entry into the family to
16518, when the first Dawlish Oliver was married to Prudence Ash or Sowton.
Her father Henry Ash was the son of Richard Ash and Prudence, daughter of
John Rudgeley of Leadon, so we have a distant arigin for her name. Although
the first Prudence Manwaring’s home was at Dawlish, she returned to Sowton
for her canfinements, her first five children being baptised there. Her third
child, baptised on 28th April 1623, caried on the name of Prudence. While
she was bearing her fifth, Esse (bapt. 22nd October 1626), her first hom,
Anne (h. 1620) was buried there on 18th October,

LOVEDAY MANWARING: We have already met the name Loveday, which
one associates with Cornwall, Again we know how it came into the family,
for Prudence's father Henry Ash was married to Loveday Movle, of

‘St. Augustines, Cornwall’. She had a daughter Loveday (b. 1625), a grand-
danghter Loveday (b. 1668 and ‘replaced’ by another Loveday b. 1670}, and
the greatgranddaughter Loveday who married Oliver Curtis, and whose
daughter Toveday married Richard Johnson, apothecary of Ottery St Mary-

ESSE MANWARING:  Dawlish’s Hearth Tax relums of 16862 were signed by
Esse Manwaringe as Constable, and record him as having four hearths. s
name, like that of his sister Loveday, recurs in subsequent generations, For
its origin we can go a great deal further back. His mother's family used
various versions of the name, including Ashe, Aisshe and Esse. Prince’s
*Worthies® traces the family back to Simon Ash or fraxinus, of Ash-Raph or
Esse-Raph {now corrupted to Rose Ash, near South Molton),  He was bom,
says Prince, about 13150 at Ash or Thewboraw. Here enters a coincidence:
Ash-Raph owes its name o Radulphus or Raufe, whose family held the mauvor
in 1198 So KEsse Manwaring owed his two nimes to the marriage, tive
centuries tater, of two Raufes of different ancestries, Radulphus in Devan
and Ranulphus in Cheshire. We can follow the descent of the Ashes further,
for one more surprise is in store. The Ralph de Fue who is recorded in the
‘Devon Feet of Pines” as acquiring 5 ferlings in Ese (Rose Ash} froom
William de Raleghe, in 1198, is presumably the name Sir Raph de Esse wha
was High Sheriff of Devon for seven yvears in the reign of Henry 1. From
him was descended Henry Esse or Ashe, who married into the Fomyson or
Fomison Family and thereby acguired the manoe of Sowton, alias Clyst
Fomyson. Sixth irn line from him at Sowton was Nicholas Ashe: his eldest
son was the Richard who married Prudence Rudgeley; his thied son, James,
was an ancestor of William Ashe, of Heviesbury, Wilts. William’s daughter
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Klizabeth, in 1705, married Pierce A'Court of Ivychureh, tater M.P, for
Heytesbury, and an ancestor of Boron Heytesbury. Their son, General
William A’Court, assumed the additional name of Ashe by the will of his
great-mcle Bdward Ashe; in 1746 he married Annabella Vernon, and through
this, his son, Colonel Sir William Pierce Ashe A’Court, became the Lord
FParmer of the Manor of Dawlish,

A FINAL QUESTION:  This rambling study began with a question, and if
ends with another.  Sir William A’Cowt was contemporary with Jane Manwaring,
the mother of our Holcombe inkeeper; they were distantly related, through
Lheir coninon ancestor Nicholas Ashe. The question is: did they realise

this?

)
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COOKWORTHY MUSEUM, KINGSBRIDGE. BISTORICAL SITES INDEX
Kathy Tanner

The Cookworthy historical sites index was started in Qctober 1974 both
0 an attempt to create a centre for tocal history students in the South Hams,
amd to huild up & coberent system, into which the dozens of odd picces of
information which we gather at the museum, could he slotted and casily
retrieved. The index acts #s a repository for researched information and it i
to be used in conjunction with the growing “‘library'* of local literature which
is kept in the same room, The cotlection includes ofd topographies, nine-
teenth century guide books, directories and maps as well as many of the
standard reference books. We now have a complete map cover of our area
(the oid Kimgsbridge Rural Distriet) which we bought in conjunction with the
South Hams Society. We have purchased copies of the relevant Ordnance
Survey antiquity cards and we also have copies of the listed and scheduled
sites in the area. The museum has in its collections many documents and
old photographs which are organised tn such a way that they may be used in
conjunetion with the index.

The system is based on 4 series of 87 maps. Fach “site’’, be it
building (church, school, manor, mill, ete.}, earthwork, field system, smail
find position, wreck, mine or aoything else of historical significance, is
{dentified on the map ond allocated a unique “*site number’”. This is marked
on the map and is the key to all information retrieval. Kach site is written up
on & printed ndex card and files are used for further mformation. This system
provides a ready made sloi for most of the scraps of historical data that we
receive and also keeps them together so that we may build up more detailed
reconls.

The initial construction of the index s extremely time consuming and
we are most grateful to a small group of volunteers wha have begun the
laborious task of marking sites on the maps, making out cards and sorting the
official literature. At this stoge we can do liitle more than build up the
mechanics of the index, including rescarch work as we find it. We do not
intend to set up in competition with the established local hstory groups at
Malborough, Salcombe and Modbury, with whom we have always had close
tinks, but merely to provide a centre where the results of ther resezwches can
be deposited, before or after publication, and be easily accessible {0 students
and the public. Copies of relavant entries will also go into the Devan
Archaeological Societies’ “*sites and monuiments” Roooed.

However, red herrings always come up in this type of work and some of
the group have been sidetracked. These wre people from local families who
have become interested in the history of ownership and use of commercial
premises in Kingshridge, Each property is allocated a number, based on its
street number, and all information relating to i, gathered from directories, old
people’s memories, rate valuations, pdvertisements and architectural descerip-
tions, is recarded together under that number. [ cumot emphasise enough the
value of having really local people, chiefly housewives, doing this work., Noi
onty do they know the district bebter than an outsider like myself, but the old
folk, who know so much, are much happier to gossip fo the grand-daughters of
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ald school-friends than to almost total strangers.

The local history centre is very much in its infancy. We are still doing
the basic ground work so thal ihe index will be ready to receive information,
and out reference library is still small. Bui, the resources are here, as are
many of the primary texts and a growing collection of ynpublished theses and
articles me held here, and all these are available for public study at the
museum. The index and *“library’’ are viewablc on application to the Curador
during working hours all the year round. Telephone Kingsbridge 3235.
Museum is open 10 .. — 5 p.m. weekdays from 5th Aprit — E6th October
1978.



MATERIALS USED IN CLOTHING FOR THE POOR BY THE WIDECOMBE
OVERSEERS IN THE 18th & 19th CENTURIES

fris Woods
(A Footnote te Ray [Freeman’s Article *The Pomeroy Paapers™)

An important proportion of the woney spont by the Qverseers was for
shocs wd clothing. The sick necded hedties and blankots, the apprentices
hadl to be fitted out hefore going to their masters, the aged and needy had to
be supplied with gaments, The Overseers bought material in bukk, and gave
out Tengths to be made up by those competent to do it. Each parish garment.
was marked with a fetter cut Fow red shag and sétched on — presumably the
latter was 12,

The gorments remaied the propecty of the parish and had to he handed
in if the recipient died befre the clothes wore out,

The following list is compiled from the Overseers’ Account Books of
1703 to 1830. The descripiions of the materials have been taken from varions
dictionaries, including the Drapers® Dictionary. { should assume that woollen
materials were of local manufacture, in spite of the dictionary definitions.

Barras A coarse linen fabric originally imported from Holland. 1st
ref. in Drapers’ Dictionary, 1640. 8d. per vd. tn 1722, 1/~
in 1819,

Blanketcloth Thick woollen cloth,

or Witney

Buckram Cotton or linen glazed with size. " 3d. per 14 yi.

Calico Cotton cloth, bleached or unbleached. First brought from
Calicut in India. 1/~ to 1/2 per yd.

Camlet Light cloth of wool, camels™ hair or goats’ hair. 9l to
1/1%4d., per yd.

Canvas Coarse hemp cloth.

Check Light cotton. 54%d. to L0d. per yd.

Dowlas Coarse linen cloth. 8%d. to 1/1 per yd.

{Dowtlis, Dowlice)

Duck Strong twilled linen or cotton. 1/4 per yd.

Egypt Cloth  Cotton fabric. 7id. to 1/9 per yd.

Everlasting  Strong twilied wollen stuff. 1/2 to 1/7 per y.
Filanning Soft woollen cloth of loose texture. 6d. to 9d. per yd.

(al so Shrouding)

Fustian Coarse twilled cotton fabric (also moleskin, velveteen,
corduroy) 1/6 per yd.

Holland Linen. 1/— to $/2 per yd.

Inkie A bioad linen tape for caps. 3d. per yd.

Kersey Coarse woollen material, §/11 in 1723 to 2/8 per yd. in
1761

Lincloth Thin Yinen fabric, used for bed sheets. 3d. in 1720,

(linning) 1ld. in 1783,
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Nap
Osnaburg
(Osembrick,
Oxenbrick,
(zenhrick,
Qssimbrick)
Pennystone
(Penistone,
Peneystone}
Pouldary
{Bolldary,
Pouldavy)
Serge

Shag

Swanskin
Tammy

Woolly fabric. 1/1 per yvd.

Coarse kind of tinen from Osoabeuck it Germany. 7d. — 114,
per yd.

Cowrse woollen cloth called afler a town in North Riding,
Yorkshire. 174 per yd.

Coarse convas or sacking, named after 2 town in Britfany.
6d. per .

Twilled worsted cloth. 17— to 172 per yd.

Cloth with a rough nap. 1RRed shag used {br leders sewn on
paupers” clothes, 10d. in 1725, T¥d. in 1768.

Soft twilled flannel. _

Cnod quality fine worsted cloth, often with a glazed finish,
Woven in Stowmarket and Bradford.

CARMIINTS MADE FOR THE POOR

Women
Men

Bed Linen

Ready-made
garments

Buttons

Hodyses, Coat, Gown, Mantel, Shift, Staybody.
fBodylinen, Breeches, Coat, Great count, Waisteoat, [nner
waisteoat, Night waisicoat, Shirt, Vest.

Redtye, Blanket, Bolster, Coverlet, Sheet

Apron, RButton stockings, Cap, Hat, Handkerchiefs, Hose,
Neckeloth, Shoes, Stockings.

Gymp, Hom, Leatheren, Prass, Mettle, Great & Small,
Yellow Bath.
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POUNDHOUSES: A SURVEY
Walter Minchinton

b[’if:'l't)rt‘ the advent of steam power, the intemal combustion engine and
cleetricity, power on the farm was provided largely by the human musele and
the hr.:r‘.*.w, [0 particular, trom the late 18th century, horse gear was nsed in
I)f.‘.'.-'t_)_n in I[mmtlhuuses tor apple-crushing tov clder making, for threshing, for
L'hatl—cutp g and tor other purposes. The poundhouse can olten be identified
as a semi-eireslar or apse-like oxtension to farm buildings — what Lilian
sheldon called an *open sided, round or oceasionally octagonal excrescenee’.

Those interested in this subject may care fo look at William Marshall,
Rural economy of the west of England (1796) [, 223-30; R. Hansford
Worth’s discussion of ¢ider presses and cider mills in (M. Spooner, ed.
Worth’s Dartmoor (David & Charles, 1967 pp.380-00: .R. Hodge, ‘[lorse
gear and threshing machines in Cornwall”, Old Comwall, V[ (196772} 444.-8
and Kenneth Hutton, ‘The distribution ol wheelhouses tu the British Isles’,
Agricultural History Review, XXIV (18768) 305.

Now poundhiouses and the horse gewr which they contained are fast
disappearing. Before it is too latir a record ought to be made of this important,
agpect of fam eguipment. [nformation about fanus which either had or still
have poundhouses {with or without cquipmoent) giving map references and
barish is therefore required.

Additional information would also he useful:

(n) What was the size of the poundhouse? Teight, width, length, ete.

(Y (OFf what materinls was it constructed? Roof, walls, heams, central
pillor (where this existed), ete,

(e)  Position ol the poundhouse, [t has heen suggested that if wos normally
on Uie nocth side in order that e building should be cool.

() What was the diameter of the horse-path? 12-14 ft. seems to have
heen comman in the south-west.

(Y How was the horse attached to the horse-gear? Did it push or pull?

Wus one horse coployed? Or more than one?

Y Details of the lorse-gear: material used (wood, iron, ete.): nalre of
goaring ete,
(g}  What machinery or quipment was driven by the horse gear?

1. cireatar apple mill or crusher; dimensions of granite trougl;

dimensions of cage runner{s)

2. or was a different kind of mill used? details?

3. was the horse~gear also used tor the press? nature of the press?

size, width and length of hase, height, one column or two?

4, threshing machine: size, gearing cte.

(hY  For the peundhouse, the horse-gear and the assoctated egulpment it
would also be useful to know when (t wus acquired or built, who made
it and where and what it cost.
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(i When last used.

Any information will be welcome to make this survey as complete as
possible, including references to published descriptions in books, periodieals,
newspapers and manuscript material, Measured drawings are particutarly
useful. All help will be acknowledged and the results of the inguiry will he
published as soon as it can be analysed,
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ED{CATION AND LABOUR IN THE SOUTH-WEST, EXETER PAPERS [N
ECONOMIC HISTORY. [dited by Jeffrey Porter. University of Exeter,
7Tpp, £1.20.

Labour history is an expanding discipline and as Dr. Porter says in a
brief introduction it also remains a frontier atudy in the south-west of Fogland.
The four essays in this collection — delivered as lectures at a seminar at
Dartingtonr Hall in 1974 — will assist the forward movement of an inguiry into
the culture and conditions of ‘average’ human beings.

[ welcome coniributions of this calibre because they tap rarely-used
spurces such as local journals, newspapers and directories and direct
attention to important themes in an exploratory and undogmautic way. Dr. W.B.
Stephens provides an anatomy of illiteracy in mid-Victorian Devon tusing census
returns as & main source. He disproves Professor Cipolla’s claim as to the
‘elative homogeneity in the lewels of illiteracy in provincial England’.
(Literacy and development in the West (1968, p.80).) Diterncy is a difficult
term to define adequately. Some men and women who made their marks on
marriage registers could possibly read: those who lahoriously wrote their
names could sometimes do that only.

Geoffrey Duncan looks at the role of the Church as a factor in adult
education in early Victorian Torquay. Anr impressive figure at this Gme was
the self-educated Quaker geclogist, William Pengelly, who was associated
with the Torquay Society for the Diffusion of Usetul Knowledge which became
the Mechanics® nstitute in 1846. Franets Place thought thesc institutes
wore too closely tied to the imposed ideal of mutual improvement and upper-
class patronage. Pergelly was a Darwinist bot this did not affect his religious
faith. John Beresford’s contribution is of valne because he uncovers new facts
about fhe local branch of the Social Dempcratic Federation in Plymouth and
notes the snccessful struggle for free speech that involved the intriguing
Arthur T. Grindley, author of The Warmens of the Poor (1908), an enquiry into
working-class housing conditions.

The experienced historian, [r. John Rowe, is as lucid and cautions as
ever in his account of the declining years of the Cornish tin-mining industry.
His sources include West Briton and the Royal Cornwall Gazette but he is
steeped in his subject, nover seeking to over-emphasise not merely his
special knowledge of the emigration of ‘Cousin Jack’ but his insight into the
mind and circumstance of & spectacubar figure. A man who syinbolises the
morale of Cornish mining at its low ebb was an old mine lubourer named Peter
Boase who on one midMovember aftemoon in 1922 was found hanging by the
neck lﬁz a shed. He had been drawing unemployment pay of fifteen shillings
a week,

The selected themes in this volume extend pur knowledge of working-
class life and sustain a sense of direction that comes from a person-orientated
investigation.

E. W. Martin
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ARTHURIAN SITES IN THE WEST by (LA, Ralegh Rudford and Michael
Swanton, published on the oceasion of the 11t ntem attonal Arthurian
Congress, meeting at Fxeter University in 1975, Price: £1.00.

This is a pleasant little book which brings together in & summary {orm
the results of some of the recent work and thinking regacding a number of sites
associated with the Arthurian period in the couth-west. The main chapters
are concerned with Tintagel, Castle Dore, Glastonbury and Cadbury-Cametot.
A useful select Bibliography is also povided.

The dark thoughts prompted by the Arthurian title are quickly wlayed
once one gets into the first chapter. [t is an eloquent résumé of the gencrally
aceepted state of our knowledge, as demonstrated by archaeology and the
somewhat etusive literary evidence. The case for a cultural renajssance in
the zouth-west, associated with the cconomic activities of the post-Roman
period, is persvasively stated, although perhaps it is over gencrous to
describe it repeatedly as a *Golden Age', even on the authority of Gildas!
The political organisation implicit in the earth-works of the period is undis-
puted, but can certainly be matehed in more than one phase in early British
history. :

One was sorry to see the story of the ‘Lady of Quality’ referred to
again. Unfortunately, as Mr. Stevens has pointed out, the whole edifice has
boeen effectively undermined by John Witkes who, on re-oxamining the actual
inscription, caue to the conclusion that ‘civis Dunnonia’ should be read as
‘eivis Pannonia’

The bookict is atiractively iltustrated and contnins wome nseful maps
specifically related to the text.

1 Wilkes, 3.3., ‘A Panoonian Refugee of Quality at Salona’, Phoenix,
Vol. 21 {1972} 4, University of Turonlo Press,

Johr Bosanko

LANDSCAPE ARCHAEOLOGY: AN INTRODUCTION TO FIELDWORK
TECHNIQUES IN POST-ROMAN LANDSCAPES by Michael Aston and ‘fyevor
Rowley. Newton Abbot: David & Charles, 1974, 217 pp. €5.50

ISBN O 7183 6670 X,

This is an addition to the growing shell of books dealing with
techniques in acchacology. 1t is specifically concemed with techniques
which cam be used by individuals or groups o towns, in villages and in the
counteyside. Amongst Lhe methods it discusses we the confribution of maps
and aerial photography 1o such studies. In dealing with the organisation of
materind, it vory usefubly deaws attention fo the exeellent sequence of records
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maintained by the Oxford City and County Museum which might well be

emul ded by other counties. Our Historical landscape, as this book guite
rightly points out, is under threat. The recent wanton destruction of a toll-
house on the Tomes-Newion Abbot road underlines the need for fuller records
to be held In Devon covering a wider range than is at present the case.

Major road construction and large scale bullding sites are examples of other
works in the county which are markedly changing the face of the landscape.
fnevitably in a volume dealing with the whole of the country, the space
devoted to Devon is small, with the position of Tolnes (with Bridgetown
Pomeroy) being discussed and illusirated and a passing reference to Ottery
St. Mary. As far as topics are concerned, hurghs, churches, deserted
medieval villages, enclosures, fishponds, moats, monasteries and ridge and
furrow are the major entries in the index. Admittedly the chosen time-span
of the volume is long but it scarcely lives up to its title since it concentrates
on medieval archaeology. In view of the danger not only to prehistoric, dark
ape and medieval sites but to the wlhole historical impact of man on the land-
scape, it might well be argucd that a little more space could have been
devoted to post-medieval archaeology and industrial archaeology (or, as some
would have ik, post-post-medieval archacology). This volume has a number
of plates and line-drawings which supplement the text. Though it is intended
‘to stimulate and guide senior acheol, extramural, college and undergraduate
stu(li{ies‘, it is also of interest to the general concerned reader and field-
worker.

Wwalter Minchinton

LOCAL HISTORY AND FOLKLORE: A New Framework by Charles Phythian-
Adams (39pp. 85p). Published for The Standing Conference for Local History
by the Bedford Square Press of The National Council of Social Service.

At long last it is gradually beginning to be appreciated that while the
subjects of folklore and local history must never be confused yet the former,
if properly handled, can offer invaluable insights to the latter. That a hist-
orian has now turned his attention to this marks a real breakthrough, and we
wetcome the new approchement.

The author has a number of important things £o say in this small book.
Briefly, he outlines the difficulties that have wp to now created an unavoid-
able split between the two subjects, and he reviews some of the pitfalls
accompanying, on the one hand a purely historical deseription of folklore
(very few customs can be proved to possess the absurd antiquity so frequently
ascribed 1o them) and on the other hand too much reliance on comparative
material drawn from cultures very different from our own, which is a legacy
from the Gelden Bough era.
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Instead, the author proposes we should concentrate on the village as
our focus of study and he emphasises the significance of the calendar rhythm
in village tife. - With these suggestions we must heartily agree: until we
really understand what goes on in one village all wider generalisations are
built on guesswork.

_ . Finally, Mr. Phythian-Adams offers a method of studying social functions
w1.thm a limited community, These can be anatysed under such headings as
‘Ritualistic’, ‘Ritualised ‘Recreation” and “‘Secular’ Ceremonies’. Within
this framework may be considered such symbolic elements as ‘Qvert Actions
and Words’, *Public Decorations®, ‘Private Dress’, “Traditional Foods® and
S0 Of.

The scheme is closely argued and needs — and deserves — carefid
study. The reader must not be put off by admittedly timsome slips (as
“aural traditions” p.10, and “Rit de Passage’’, p.35) because the suggestions
are constructive and stimulating and should inspire some exciting new topo-
graphical studies.

Theo Brown

THE COMMON STREAM by Rowland Parker. Colins, 1975. £3.75. 283pp.
ISBN 0 00 216113 3.

This hook has received much publicity and is in fact atready into its
second reprint. Despite its title it is a local history, a history in fact of the
village of Foxton in Cambridgeshire huilt on the edge of an anciently con-
structed siream which all shared. The title claims that it is more than this,
that it is ‘the story of the Common Man, of the ovdinary men and women who
in their countless thousands have trudged through life and then departed from
it, leaving little visible trace’. The book follows that theme fully and it is
the common man of Foxton and his reactions to his varying circumstances
that interests Mr. Parker above all. All sorts of evidence is used Lo throw
light on this, from the dredgings of the river, the excavations of archaeologists,
the construction of houses, to a very full collection of manorial and other
documents that begin as early as the thirteenth century. 1t is unlikely that
& book like this could have been written by anyone who did not in fact live in
Foxton. Mr. Parker knows his viliage and its landscape intimately and is
able to relate the past to the present in a way quiie impossible to an outsider. -
There is too an atfzactive *warmth' about the book that derives from Mr.
Parker's quite appurent affection for his home.

But is it possible to interpret the reactions of cur ancestors in quite
the way Mr. Parker does? [t is one thing to describe their circumstances
and then assume that their reactions would have been the same as ours. it
is more likely that their aspirations and terms of reference were so different,
that such assumptions are wrong, even if human nature has remained the same.
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Is it also possible fo juslify the claim that this is the story of the
foommon man'? [t is true that much of what Mr. Pirker records is instintly
recognisable to anyone knowledgeable about the history of any village but
theve must have been real differences tor the ‘common man’ who lived in wn
cstate village with a resident souire where ‘deference’ wag the rule, or even
in & mining or forest or cloth making village with other life styles and
economivs. [Foxton was an agricultural village almost excluszively and at the
end of the hook no very clear picture has emerged of the daily work and
activity of the pensants of Foxfon or of thewr famus and holdings though the
wealth of documents should make this possible,

All the same this is a stimulating book and the oight ind proper aim of
the local lstorian to write a history of the community as a wholoe is pretty
well achicved and some of the details and dedyctions from seemingly scanty
evidence are fascmating. This must be one of the very few village histories
that has had a much more than local reference and readership.

There are four maps and a general map as an end paper but none that
enables the reader to see Foxton village and parish as a whole.

Rebin Stanes

INDUSTRIAL ARCHAEOLOGY IN DEVON : SOME RECENT PUBLICATIONS

There have been no recent publications spectfically concerned with
1A In Devon but the county has featwred in & number of general publications
on the subject. Sumrisingly for a publication sponsored by a petrol compony,
Neil Cossons, The BP book of industrial archaeology (David & Charles,
1975) is largely a history of technology but its last fifty pages include a
gazeteer of sites with the Finch Foundry, Stickiepath, the Newcomen engine
at Dartmouth, Devon Creat Cousols mine, the Seaton concrete bridge, Powdoer
Mitls farm, the Ridd incline on the Rolle Canal, Morweltham, Starcross
engine house, the Haytar granite railway, the Dart Vallev Railway and
Smeaton's lighthouse at Plymouth comprising the eleven sites which represent
Devon, all of them predictable except perhaps for the Ridd incline. A larger
gazeteer could well have been provided to take the place of the rather
improbable list of {A organisations with Cossons provides. A lecturer at
South Devon College, Hugh Bodey, has produced a volwne on Discovering
industrial archaeology and history (Shire Publications, 1975} which deals
with the growth of British ncustries and the prablem of maintaining industrial
monuments. In the gazeteer, which shows that Bodey takes a wider view of
his subject than Cossons, the Devon entries are Haytor, Morweliham and
Sticklepath hut also Holy Strect Mill, Chaglord, Posthridge, Steps Bridge,
Dunsford and Tavistock, [ the museum section, Bicton, Rideford, Brixham,
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Exeter and Morweliham find a place. J. Kenneth Major, Fietdwork in industrial
archaeclogy (Batsford, 1975), which provides a valuable introduction to [A
recording with, as befits the authorship, an emphasis on drawings from the
mint of view of an architeet, is of interest gince the detailed drawings
provided (Figures 9--26 and plates 31-5) are of a Devon watermill, Dowrich
Mill near Crediton. In addition, there is a drawing of Bellamarsh Mill,
Chudleigh by Bruce Bolton (plate 36). Kenneth Hudson, Exploring our
industrial past (Hodder & Stoughton, 1975), the latest of the Teach Yourself
Books, presents his personal (but not generally accepted) view that [A is
fundamentally about peaple which he illustrates with ten case studies, ose
of which is Fineh's foundry, Sticklepath. Then he tums o lus cusrent
preocenpation, oral history, and draws on the research he did while writing a
history of Fnglish China Clavs as an example. Again there is alist of
museums in which Bicton, Brisham, Exeter, Morwelibam and Sticklepath are
listed but Topsham, Buckfastieigh, Kingsbridge and Torbay also find u
pluce, Three Devon TA societies ate mentioned hut, such are the nsks of
publishing such information in hooks, two are largely defunct and al.i have
changed their secretaries. Finally, the latcest of the continuing series of
books on Don Quixete’s fascination, Windmills by Suzanne Beedetl (David &
Charles, 1975), provides a survey not only of British windmills but also a
rather random selection in Depmarck, the Netherands, France, America and
clsewhere. As she admits, no up-to-date absclutely comprehensive list of
mills exists so she finds no place for the nine sites in Devon where windmill
towers exist in varions states of preservation.

Walter Minchinton

THBEN AND NOW: THE ARCBITECTURAL HERITAGE OF TOTNES AND
DISTRICT by Michael Dower. Dartington Amenity Research Trust, 1975,
32 pp. 50p.

This compilation of historic paintings, engravings and photographs
and eontemporary itlustrations of Totnes and 1ts surrounding aress is the
result ot an exhibition on *Your heritage’ arranged by a number of Totnes
societies in summer 1975 as o contribution to Bumopean Architectural
Hueritage Year. The fitst half of the woklet consisis of sections providing
a chronological account of the town fron its first settlement to the
covonation of Edward VII in 1902. Then follows sections on ‘the archi-
fectural heritage’, dealing with houses and cotages, country houses,
castles, churchies and bridges. Finally, “The challenge of conservation’ is
shown to include not only the problems of mainiaining and finding appropriate
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uses for the buildings and are as which earlier generations have bequeathed
to us but also the quality of the modem buildiugs which we add to the
historic town and landscape. The historic illustrations give a less familiar
picture of this well-known area while soine of the modem photographs also
depict aspects not easily seen by the casual visitor such as two of the
splendid moulded plaster ceilings in the wealthy merchants’ houses and the
great curving staircase in Sharpham House, Ashprington. The booklct is to
he recommended to all those interested in this historic part of Devon

Celia M. King

APPLEDORE by John Beara, 60p; 52pp., map and 23 photographs.

This handsomely produced booklet is mainly concerned with the maritime
activities which have always been the maingpring of this place, and with
developments in the local waterfront and buildings, profusely Hllustrated and
wetl covered by the text. Having been administeatively part of Northam,
Appledore lacks the usual range of separate parish record s for the use of the
historien,  but the writer, a member of an old-established local family, has
nevertheless produced a well and carefully written account based on the
available sources.

AN ORDINARY DEVON FAMILY — GEEN OF OKEHAMPTON by M.5 Ceen,
50p; 39pp.

This traces the Geen family from the earliest known members in the
Parracombe/Lynton district in the mid-13th century, buf it does much more,
Twe of the family were Mayors of Qkehampton and prominent in the borough's
public life and economic activities, and there is much here of general local
interest. Connections al so appear with the Bovey batl-clay industry, and
another member hecame Mayor of Torquay. The writer has drawn on a variety
of manuscript and other sources Lo being out the personalities behind the
genealogieal lists in bath text and illustrations, aad the result is a model of
its kind.

R.R.S,
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